# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CAPRIATI CONSTRUCTION CORP., INC., a Nevada Corporation Appellant, v.	) Supreme Court No: 80107 ) District Court Case Not of Nicelly Filed ) Aug 12 2020 01:29 p.m. ) Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
BAHRAM YAHYAVI, an individual, Respondent.	) ) )
CAPRIATI CONSTRUCTION CORP., INC., a Nevada Corporation Appellant,	) Supreme Court No: 80821 )
V.	
BAHRAM YAHYAVI, an individual, Respondent.	) ) )

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

Michael K. Wall (2098) Peccole Professional Park 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Attorney for Appellant

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Docket No. 80107 is an appeal from a final judgment on a jury verdict, entered on October 22, 2019. AA 198. It is appealable as under NRAP 3A(b)(1). *Id*.

Docket No. 80107 is also an appeal from a post-judgment decision and order for sanctions, entered on November 5, 2019. AA 545. This order does not impose sanctions; the sanctions were imposed during trial. But this order purports to explain the reasons the sanctions were imposed, and is the only written order regarding the sanctions. *Id.* This order was entered post-judgment and purports to impose sanctions; thus, it appears to qualify as a special order after final judgment. NRAP 3A(b)(8).

Appellant Capriati Construction Corporation, Inc. ("Capriati") filed a notice of appeal from the final judgment and from the post-judgment order on November 26, 2019. AA 584

On November 18, 2019, Capriati filed a motion for a new trial. AA 565. This qualifies as a timely tolling motion. NRAP 4(a)(4). On November 14, 2019, Capriati filed a motion to correct or reconsider the decision and order entered on November 5, 2019. AA 554. Whether this motion qualifies as a tolling motion is open to debate. There is, however, no need to resolve this issue, because it is not relevant.

On March 3, 2020, the district court entered separate orders denying Capriati's motion for a new trial and Capriati's motion to correct or reconsider the decision and order entered on November 5, 2019. AA 1000; 1009.

Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(6), Capriati's notice of appeal filed November 26, 2019, is timely and invokes the appellate jurisdiction of this Court with respect to the final judgment, and the post-judgment order entered on November 5, 2019. NRAP 4(a)(1).

On March 3, 2020, the district court entered orders resolving two additional post-judgment motions regarding attorney's fees and costs. AA 1015; 1021. The entry of the four orders of March 3, 2020, commenced the running of the time to appeal from the final judgment, as well as from the appealable post-judgment orders. Notices of entry of these orders were served on Capriati electronically on March 4, 2020. AA 998; 1006; 1013; 1019.

On March 13, 2020, appellant filed an amended notice of appeal from the final judgment, and included in that notice all other orders that are appealable at this time. AA 1027. Specifically, plaintiff has appealed from the following judgments and orders:

1. Final judgment on the jury verdict; October 22, 2019.

- 2. Post-judgment decision and order (for sanctions); November 5, 2019.<sup>1</sup>
- 3. Post-judgment order denying motion for a new trial; March 3, 2020. NRAP 3A(b)(2).
- 4. Post-judgment order granting and denying motion to retax costs; March 3, 2020. NRAP 3A(b)(8).
- 5. Post-judgment order granting and denying motion for attorney's fees; March 3, 2020. NRAP 3A(b)(8).

The amended notice of appeal was separately docketed as Case No. 80821.

The notice of appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

On May 19, 2020, this Court consolidated these appeals for all appellate purposes.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

No section of NRAP 17(a) or (b) applies directly to this appeal. By negative implication, NRAP 17(b)(5) suggests that this case should be retained by this Court. Although this appeal arises from a personal injury action resulting from an automobile accident, with fees and costs, the amount of the judgment exceeds \$8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>If this order is not appealable as a special order after final judgment, NRAP 3A(b)(8), it is nevertheless reviewable at this time because (1) although entered after final judgment, it explained and made final an oral order that was carried into effect before entry of the final judgment, and is integral to the final judgment; (2) it was again reviewed by the district court pursuant to the motion to correct, and was confirmed; and (3) it was entered prior to the time the final judgment became final and appealable due to tolling motions. *See Mardian v. Greenberg Family Tr.*, 131 Nev. 730, 733, 359 P.3d 109, 111 (2015) (this Court reviews in appeal from final judgment all prejudgment orders that led to final judgment).

million. The jury's verdict in this case was the result of a mid-trial sanction for alleged attorney misconduct. Three weeks into the trial, based on a single question and answer, the district court partially struck Capriati's answer, did not allow Capriati to present its case-in-chief, and gave the case to the jury on a directed verdict. A jury instruction is erroneous as a matter of law, and contributed to the size of the verdict. Thus, this case involves primarily legal issues for resolution by this Court. More importantly, this case addresses a policy issue of first impression in this Court. The Court of Appeals has partially addressed the issue, but Capriati suggests a decision from this Court is needed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These are consolidated appeals from a final judgment and from several appealable post-judgment orders, including a post-judgment order awarding attorney's fees and costs. Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Department XXVIII, the Honorable Ronald J. Israel, District Judge.

#### INTRODUCTION

Although this case involves some complicated legal issues and a large verdict, the underlying litigation is a routine motor vehicle accident. Plaintiff was driving a car from one car lot to another. As he rounded a curve making a right turn on a road that is an access way between major streets, he ran into at least one of the forks of an industrial forklift driven by Joshua Arbuckle, an employee of

Capriati. The fork had intruded past the construction cones into the travel lane;
Arbuckle caused the accident.

The collision resulted in alleged personal injuries, the severity and relateability of which were the subject of a jury trial. At issue was the credibility of plaintiff, who claimed never to have suffered neck pain before the accident, and that he was traveling 30 miles per hour.

When the trial began, plaintiff questioned Clifford Goodrich, Capriati's corporate representative, as to the loss or destruction of certain personnel files and related documents that had not been produced in discovery, suggesting that they were purposely withheld. No pretrial discovery issue had been raised regarding these documents, and no spoliation motion was ever filed. Plaintiff will claim that it never raised a spoliation issue at trial, and strictly speaking, this is true. Plaintiff merely raised the issue of the lost documents and planted in the minds of the jurors that Capriati had destroyed them, placing the issue before the jurors without the necessity of allowing the district court to rule on its spoliation issue in the first instance.

Capriati felt it needed to respond to set the record straight that the documents were lost during Capriati's bankruptcy, when the company was greatly reduced in manpower, or were disposed of in the ordinary course of business, so as to dispel the argument that the documents had been withheld. Capriati recalled

Goodrich as its first witness in its case in chief, and asked the single question of whether something big had happened to the company between the time of the accident and trial. Goodrich answered that the company "had petitioned for reorganization." Plaintiff objected.

The district court rejected Capriati's explanation that it brought up the reorganization to inform the jury of the reduction in personnel and the consequent innocent loss of documents. The district court concluded that Capriati's counsel asked the question intentionally to introduce the issue of bankruptcy in an effort to suggest that Capriati could not pay a verdict. The district court struck Capriati's answer as to liability, refused to allow Capriati to present its defense witnesses, and proceeded directly to closing arguments. The district court instructed the jury that Capriati had enough insurance to cover any verdict it might impose, no matter how high, and sent the jury to deliberate on the amount of damages only. The jury retruned a multimillion dollar verdict.

The district court's sanction was disproportional to counsel's conduct. The single mention of a reorganization could easily have been cured with a reprimand and an instruction to the jury to disregard the question and answer, and that the completed bankruptcy was not relevant to any issue in the case. The refusal to allow Capriati to present a defense as to damages was case-ending. To add to the error, the district court instructed the jury that Capriati's insurance would cover

any verdict. That instruction is wrong.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the district court abused its discretion in striking Capriati's answer and not allowing Capriati's defense witnesses to testify.
- II. Whether the defense-ending sanction imposed by the district court were too severe.
- III. Whether the insurance instruction was wrong as a matter of law.
- IV. Whether the District Court Abused Its Discretion in Awarding Attorney's Fees.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### I. Note on Trial Issues.

This matter involves an accident between a car and an industrial forklift.

Although there was no issue as to who was at fault (Arbuckle was), there were issues as to the damages, and more particularly whether Yahyavi's medical special damages were caused by the accident.<sup>2</sup>

Yahyavi had informed a doctor at Southwest Medical less than two years

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is not the purpose of this brief to argue the causation and damages issues as to the evidence to support plaintiff's claims, except to the extent that the dispute gives context to the legal issues raised herein. This is not an appeal about whether the jury's verdict is supported by substantial evidence. This appeal presents only legal issues about whether the district court erred so severely as to render the verdict unreliable and void.

before this accident that he had suffered from neck pain for years.<sup>3</sup> But Yahyavi never informed any of his treating doctors of his prior neck pain, and because (in Capriati's view) Yahyavi had misrepresented the severity of the accident to his treating physicians and to the jury, Yahyavi's credibility was a primary issue. Indeed, it was the lynchpin of Capriati's defense.

The facts of the accident are agreed upon by both sides and are not in doubt. A forklift's fork impacted the passenger side of the vehicle driven by Yahyavi. The forces imparted, the causal connection between the accident and Yahyavi's medical claims, and Yahyavi's claim that the accident ended his ability to work in any capacity, were strongly disputed.

# II. Factual Background

Capriati is a Las Vegas contractor. AA 3. On June 19, 2013, Capriati was conducting construction activities on Sahara Avenue and Glen Avenue (a small road that provides access between Sahara and Boulder Highway). *Id*.

Plaintiff Bahram Yahyavi was working as a sales manager for Chapman Dodge. AA 1956. At approximately 10:25 a.m., Yahyavi was driving a Dodge Charger belonging to the dealership from one car lot to another along a route he had driven many times. AA 1966. Yahyavi was traveling eastbound on Sahara,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Defendant's Trial Exhibit A. AA 138.

and had just turned right onto Glen. AA 1966-69; 2330-32.

At the same time, Capriati's employee, Joshua Arbuckle, was driving a rented forklift. AA 1412. Arbuckle caused the forks of the forklift to enter the roadway on Glen. AA 1415. At least one of the forks from the forklift came into contact with the passenger side A-pillar (metal roof support next to the windshield) and windshield of Yahyavi's car. AA 1417. Plaintiff suffered personal injuries. AA 3.

Yahyavi's airbags did not deploy. AA 2336. Yahyavi claims to have slipped forward under his seatbelt, injuring his knee (the knee claim was abandoned immediately before trial). AA 1703; 2352. That means the seatbelt failed to catch. These facts are relevant to the experts' estimates of the speed of the vehicle, an issue critical to Capriati's defense.

Plaintiff treated inconsistently for alleged injuries—including neck surgery—worked for three years, stopped working, and incurred medical expenses. The severity and relate-ability of Yahyavi's injuries were hotly contested at trial, but are not the focus of the issues in this appeal. Therefore, the medical evidence will not be discussed in this brief. Suffice it to say Capriati contested the causation and damages issues below in a trial where liability was clear, so the purpose of the trial was to limit the damages to those caused by the accident.

#### III. Pretrial Procedural Facts.

On May 20, 2015, Yahyavi filed his complaint for personal injuries, naming Capriati as defendant. AA 1. The complaint alleged Yahyavi suffered injuries, including to his neck, which became the focus of the trial. *Id*.

On October 7, 2015, Capriati answered.<sup>4</sup> AA 9. Also on October 7, 2015, Capriati filed a voluntary petition for bankruptcy protection. On October 25, 2016, plaintiff moved the bankruptcy court to terminate the automatic stay. AA 15. On December 22, 2016, the bankruptcy court lifted the stay, allowing the state court lawsuit to proceed for a determination of liability, fault, damages and entry of a judgment. AA 21-23. Collection against Capriati on the judgment remained stayed. *Id.* The stay was also lifted to allow Yahyavi to pursue insurance coverage under the policies. *Id.* 

Yahyavi told his medical providers that he was traveling roughly 30 mph when the accident occurred. *See* Defendant's Trial Exhibits. At trial, Yahyavi reconfirmed that he was traveling at about 30 mph when "a bomb went off" as he impacted the forklift. AA 1970. All of Yahyavi's testimony might be viewed by a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>On April 25, 2018, Capriati re-filed its answer at the direction of the district court. AA 28. The re-filed answer is identical to the original answer. The reason for refiling is not clear from the record, but it appears it was because the bankruptcy was filed on the same day as the original answer, and there was a question of the validity of the original filing because of the bankruptcy stay.

jury as somewhat exaggerated. Yahyavi's credibility was a primary issue.

After Capriati obtained an opinion from its accident reconstruction expert that the Dodge was moving much slower, possibly only a few miles per hour, Yahyavi retained an accident reconstruction expert who identified his speed as around 10 mph at the time of impact. Regardless of the speed, forces, delta-V, or biomechanical implications of the accident reconstruction evidence, it calls into question Yahyavi's veracity, as well as the causation opinions of his treating medical providers, whose opinions were based in part on information as to speed provided by Yahyavi. Therefore, the accident reconstruction discovery is critical.<sup>5</sup>

On July 3, 2018, Capriati timely disclosed Dr. John E. Baker, PhD., P.E., as a biomechanical and accident reconstruction expert, along with his report. AA 32. Among other things, Dr. Baker opined based on his examination of all of the physical evidence and documents that there was significant variance between Yahyavi's testimony regarding the accident and the physical evidence, but that taking everything into account, if Yahyavi did not brake as he claimed, the speed of the vehicle was 5.61 mph at impact, and if he applied full braking, the speed of the vehicle was 12.12 mph at impact. AA 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The expert reports of Baker and Kirkendall were specifically made a part of the record during the trial below. AA 2559-60. Leggett's reports were attached to pretrial motions.

Yahyavi did not disclose an initial accident reconstruction expert.

On August 20, 2018, Yahyavi disclosed Tim S. Leggett, P.Eng., P.E., as a rebuttal expert. AA 39. After being critical of Dr. Baker's opinions, Leggett "performed simulations" and opined: "With the Dodge's delta-v being 10 mph or less, Mr. Yahyavi would most likely have been traveling at 10 mph or less at the time of the collision." AA 52.

At his deposition on December 5, 2018, Leggett testified: "And so typically for this type of vehicle with a seat belted occupant the air bag would deploy at around 16 miles per hour. So we're not anywhere near that nor does the damage – does the damage present as a 16 mile an hour Delta-V." AA 94. Leggett confirmed his opinion that the speed of the accident was "at or around 10 miles per hour." AA 95.

At his deposition on December 20, 2018, Dr. Baker clarified that because of the size and weight of the forklift, and the size and weight of the Dodge, the impact of the forks on the A-Pillar and windshield of the Dodge had no impact on the car's deceleration. AA 97. The deceleration therefore came entirely from Yahyavi braking (which he denies), or from the impact of the Dodge with the immovable forklift. *Id.* Dr. Baker testified:

Q. So I guess my question is, if the A-pillar, the rearview mirror -- or the side mirror, and the windshield did not have any influence on the deceleration of the vehicle, then how did it stop?

- A. Well, it approaches -- this particular collision -- at a very low speed. And I'll tell you how I know that now.
- Q. Okay.
- A. All right. If you take a close -- very close look -- and that's why I've blown this up several times -- at the top of the mirror.
- Q. And we're back to the Charger crush photos, 3 Exhibit 5; correct?
- A. Right.
- Q. Okay. Go ahead.
- A. You see a scrape mark on the top of the mirror.
- Q. Uh-huh.
- A. Then you see crush of the A-pillar, approximately -- yeah. I'd say it's probably six inches above that top surface of the mirror.
- Q. Uh-huh.
- A. All right. So given that, we've got the bottom surface of the fork on the mirror. And we've got the middle of that fork contacting the A-pillar. The distance there, in which there was no damage, is three to four inches. There's no damage. This is referred. This was pushed in. This was no longer a straight line. This area that you see in a little bit of an enlargement, there's no contact. The contact's above an area in which the fork is elevated from the top of the mirror to the point of contact.
- Q. You're talking about just on the A-pillar; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Because there is damage -- observable damage on the windshield --
- A. Correct.

. . . .

A. Okay. So is that consistent with a ten-mile per hour velocity? It's not.

And the reason is because, if this were at ten-miles per hour, there would have been this scrape. And the damage to the A-pillar would have been lower without this area of no contact. There would have been no time to have the fork rise.

So given that, there would have been an impression into the A-pillar right at the same level as the top of the mirror.

And, again, if there were two inches, it would be where I'm drawing right now. That's where it would be.

But, instead, it's had time to go up. That means this vehicle's not proceeding very quickly. If it were, it would be lower.

- Q. Okay.
- A. And that's the basis of why I believe this is a very low speed collision.
- Q. Okay. What speed?
- A. It's at one- to two-miles an hour.

#### AA 101-02.

In a nutshell, the damage on the A-Pillar and the damage to the mirror demonstrate that the forks were being lifted at the time of impact, and had time to rise 4 inches between the impact at the A-Pillar and the impact at the mirror. This puts the forklift at an angle away from the Dodge (the Dodge hit the side of the

fork, not the front of the fork), and the impact was very slow. *Id*.

On the eve of trial, without notice to Capriati and after the close of discovery, Yahyavi conducted crash tests to try to prove the accident happened at a faster speed. AA 103. Leggett submitted a supplemental expert report in which he opined based on the crash tests that "the subject collision was much greater than 9.1 mph and may have been as much as 14.7 mph or more." AA 115. In response to Capriati's motion objecting on grounds of timeliness, the district court allowed Capriati to conduct a crash test of its own, and to depose Leggett regarding Yahyavi's crash tests.<sup>6</sup>

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