Case No. 80107/Case No. 80821

In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

Electronically Filed
Nov 25 2020 08:22 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

CAPRIATI CONSTRUCTION CORP., INC., a Nevada Corporation

Appellant,

v.

BAHRAM YAHYAVI, an individual

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court
Clark County, Nevada
The Honorable Ronald J. Israel, District Judge
Case No. A-15-718689-C

PRINCE LAW GROUP

DENNIS M. PRINCE
Nevada Bar No. 5092
KEVIN T. STRONG
Nevada Bar No. 12107
10801 W. Charleston Boulevard
Suite 560
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
Attorneys for Respondent
Bahram Yahyavi

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Suggesting Kahn set forth any coherent argument objecting to the substance of the proposed curative instruction has no basis in reality. It is merely a desperate attempt to somehow raise the issue for the first time before this Court. Kahn solely focused on precluding any sanctions that prohibited Capriati from contesting damages at trial. AA002485-002490. Even when the district court gave Kahn the full opportunity to read the proposed curative instruction and comment on it, he made no challenge at all:

THE COURT: I've stated what I'm going to do. I think that's appropriate. I agree that I will read that to introduce is irrelevant. It's committed willful misconduct. I'm going to be telling the jury that Mr. Kahn is reprimanded. **I think that along with the curative and the other is appropriate.**

Yeah. I agree and I said that they haven't gotten it and I don't understand. **So let's take a short break and Mr. Kahn can review these.**

MR. KAHN: I think they were attached as exhibits to the briefs. **I've already seen it.**

...

MR. KAHN: Sorry. **I have no comment on them. That's fine. I submit.**

AA002498 (emphasis added).

Yahyavi attached the curative instruction to his sanctions motion, which was filed before the district court imposed sanctions. AA000142, AA000184-000187. Kahn read the instructions, was given an opportunity to object, but failed to do so. AA002498. He did not offer an alternative curative instruction, either. *Id.* In fact, Kahn had no comment. *Id.* As a result, Capriati failed to preserve any appellate challenges to the instruction.

Capriati references his counsel's alleged objection to the district court reading the curative instruction to the jury for a second time as if that somehow preserved appellate review. AA002537. This so-called objection was made after the district court already provided the curative instruction to the jury, which effectively rendered it superfluous. *Id.*

Objections to jury instructions “must give the district court the opportunity to correct the potential error by focusing the court’s attention on the alleged error.” *Cook v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., LLC*, 124 Nev. 997, 1001 (2008). The factual record demonstrates Kahn made no attempt to substantively object to the jury instruction or propose an alternative instruction before it was given. Therefore, this Court must

not consider any of the arguments Capriati makes regarding the curative instruction or its alleged prejudicial effect.

2. The Curative Instruction Accurately Instructed Jurors

This Court reviews a district court's decision to admit a jury instruction for abuse of discretion. *D & D Tire, Inc. v. Ouellette*, 131 Nev. 462, 470 (2015). This is the appropriate standard of review as Capriati does not challenge on appeal whether the curative instruction accurately states Nevada law. *Id.* Instead, Capriati argues the district court's curative instruction should have advised jurors not to consider bankruptcy or insurance for any purpose. Once again, this alternative instruction should have been raised to the district court, not to this Court for the first time. *Chernikoff*, 2020 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 844 at *3.

Capriati repeatedly suggests the district court's curative instruction informed the jury there was unlimited insurance available to pay any amount of damages. This is false and emblematic of Capriati's blatant disregard of the factual record. The plain language of the curative instruction stated, in part, that Capriati "carries liability insurance to satisfy, **in whole or in part**, any verdict you may reach in this case." AA002503 (emphasis added). The jury was never informed of

the amount of liability insurance Capriati carried when the collision occurred. AA002503. The instruction did not invite the jury to suspect Capriati had enough insurance to pay any verdict no matter the amount. AA002503.

The jury was in no conceivable way swayed by Capriati's liability insurance given its verdict. Yahyavi asked the jury to award him \$14,476,662.24 in damages. AA002622-002633. The jury awarded Yahyavi \$5,870,283.24, which was approximately 40% of the amount requested. AA000195. If the jury truly believed there was unlimited insurance available, it would have awarded Yahyavi the entire amount requested. Instead, the jury did not allow its knowledge of liability insurance to unfairly influence its verdict and prejudice Capriati. The jury chose to reduce the damage awards for Yahyavi's loss of earning capacity, which shows that it considered the evidence, not the liability insurance. AA000195. \$3,000,000.00 for past and future pain and suffering is certainly not an outrageous amount that shocks the conscience given the extent of Yahyavi's injuries. *Id.* The jury properly exercised its discretion by weighing the evidence to reach its verdict. *Reed v. Bethel*, 2 N.E.3d 98, 115 (Ind. Ct. App. 2014) ("Because the jury's

verdict can be explained on other reasonable grounds, we will not deem it to be the result of improper considerations [of liability insurance]”).

Capriati’s belief that the jury’s knowledge of liability insurance grossly inflated the verdict is incomprehensible. The verdict reached by the jury reflected the evidence presented. For that reason, even if the district court committed error by allowing a broad reference to liability insurance, the error was harmless. *Serpa v. Porter*, 80 Nev. 60, 69 (1964) (even if the district court’s order is considered to be error, the judgment should not be disturbed if such error does not affect the substantial rights of the parties); *see also*, Nev. R. Civ. P. 61. Capriati bears the burden to prove that, but for the error, a different outcome would have resulted. *Hallmark v. Eldridge*, 124 Nev. 492, 505 (2008). Considering the verdict was not shocking in amount given the evidence presented, Capriati cannot legitimately prove a different result absent the liability insurance reference.

Capriati desperately attempts to draw a parallel between collateral source evidence and liability insurance to suggest there is a *per se* bar on the admission of liability insurance. This argument is not legally tenable. The *per se* bar is strictly limited to evidence of payments to an injury

victim “from a source wholly independent of the tortfeasor” *Proctor v. Castelletti*, 112 Nev. 88, 90 n.1 (1996). The rule is intended to prevent juries from reducing damages caused by the negligent party. *Id.* The rule is not designed to prevent juries from increasing a damages award because liability insurance is available. These are completely distinct legal concepts, which underscores the weakness of Capriati’s position. Unlike collateral sources of payment for personal injuries, there is no *per se* bar on the admission of liability insurance under Nevada law:

2. This section does **not** require the exclusion of evidence of insurance against liability when it is relevant for another purpose, such as proof of agency, ownership or control, or bias or prejudice of a witness (emphasis added).

Nev. Rev. Stat. 48.135(2).

Here, insurance was not used to establish negligence (*i.e.* liability) as that was already clear. AA001175-001176, AA001423. Instructing the jury Capriati carried liability insurance was necessary to neutralize the prejudice that resulted from Kahn’s willful misconduct to introduce testimony regarding Capriati’s bankruptcy. This renders any analogy with the *per se* bar on collateral source evidence for personal injury plaintiffs baseless. Even under NRS 48.135(2), reference to Capriati’s

liability insurance was proper to cure the harm caused given the district court's equitable power to impose sanctions.

Evidence of liability insurance is admissible when a defendant invites a jury to infer it is stricken by poverty:

Should the nature of defendant's proofs be such that the jury might infer defendant's inability to pay a judgment, evidence that defendant has liability insurance may become admissible as an exception to the general prohibition of insurance evidence contained in Fed.R.Evid. 411.

Bernier v. Board of County Rd. Comm'rs, 581 F. Supp. 71, 78 (W.D. Mich. 1983);¹³ see also, *Younts v. Baldor Elec. Co.*, 832 S.W.2d 832, 834 (Ark. 1992).

Introducing evidence of liability insurance to combat a defendant's "poormouthing" is known as "curative admissibility" and "has garnered support in both the judiciary and academia." *DSC Communs. Corp. v. Next Level Communs.*, 929 F. Supp. 239, 248 (E.D. Tex. 1996). Curative admissibility ensures the playing field is leveled if a defendant chooses to mislead the jury by pleading poverty.

As a condition to lift the bankruptcy stay to allow the personal injury lawsuit to proceed, Yahyavi's recovery was limited to Capriati's

¹³ FRE 411 is substantially similar to NRS 48.135.

insurance. AA000022. Yahyavi was forbidden from pursuing Capriati's personal assets. *Id.* The jury was unaware of this fact. This magnified the resulting prejudice because the jury was left to believe Capriati's financial ability to pay a judgment was severely impaired. Kahn was motivated to mislead the jury about Capriati's inability to pay to reduce the verdict the insurer would have to pay. The curative instruction as drafted was the only reasonable means available to neutralize the harm caused by the misconduct.

C. The Sanctions Imposed By The District Court Did Not Deprive Capriati Of The Ability To Contest Damages

Capriati's brief is replete with falsehoods that it was not allowed to present damage witnesses. The district court's decision to strike Capriati's remaining expert witnesses, Kirkendall and Dr. Baker, did not end Capriati's damage defense. Before the sanctions, Capriati presented testimony from its primary damages expert, Dr. Tung and retained vocational expert, Bennett. AA002015-002016, AA002177. As a result, Capriati overstates the value of Dr. Baker and Kirkendall's anticipated testimony to somehow claim they were unable to dispute damages.

1. Dr. Tung's Testimony Disputed the Extent of Yahyavi's Damages

Although Yahyavi requested the district court to strike Dr. Tung's testimony, the district court declined to impose this sanction. AA002493. Capriati conveniently ignores this fact to somehow bolster its claim that the district court took away its damages defense.

Dr. Tung testified Yahyavi sustained straining injuries to his neck and back as a result of the collision. AA002057-002058. He testified Yahyavi's medical treatment through early September 2014 was reasonable and caused by the collision. AA002065-002066. He clarified all of Yahyavi's chronic neck pain thereafter was causally related to a progression of pre-existing degenerative disc disease. AA002064-002068. Dr. Tung told the jury Yahyavi's need for additional medical treatment, including his cervical spine surgery, was not related to the collision. AA002047-002049, AA002052-002053, AA002074-002075, AA002111-002112. He explained the cervical spine injections Yahyavi underwent after the summer of 2014 were not beneficial. AA002077. Dr. Tung even detailed why Yahyavi was not a good surgical candidate. AA002055.

Dr. Tung extensively testified regarding Yahyavi's alleged complaint of neck pain for years that was documented in the prior SWMA

record. AA002053. He specifically testified in detail about the record and the cervical spine x-ray Yahyavi underwent. AA002093-002101.

Finally, Dr. Tung disputed Yahyavi's future medical treatment recommendations by telling the jury that implantation of a spinal cord stimulator was not related to the collision and would not benefit Yahyavi. AA002054. Dr. Tung explained, in detail, that Yahyavi is not disabled from working. AA002046-002048, AA002311-002314, AA002320.

Capriati downplays the extent and significance of Dr. Tung's testimony. Dr. Tung's testimony disputing the extent of Yahyavi's injuries and his treatment was not restricted or limited by the district court in any significant manner. The jury was given a full and fair opportunity to consider Dr. Tung's testimony when determining what damages to award Yahyavi. Kahn contested Yahyavi's damages based on Dr. Tung's testimony, the lone prior SWMA record, and Bennett's testimony during closing argument. AA002368-002687.

2. Capriati Overstates the Importance of Dr. Baker's Testimony

Capriati somehow believes Dr. Baker's accident reconstruction opinions could have altered the jury's verdict. Dr. Baker opined Yahyavi's speed at impact was 5.61 mph. AA00858. Dr. Baker used his

opinion about the dynamics of the collision to suggest the collision was not strong enough to cause Yahyavi to sustain a hyperflexion injury. AA00858. The district court correctly excluded Dr. Baker's opinions regarding injury causation because he lacked the qualifications to offer opinions regarding medical causation as a biomechanical engineer. AA002174-002176; *see also, Williams v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 127 Nev. 518, 521 (2011).¹⁴ As recognized by this Court, even low impact collisions can cause serious injuries. *Rish*, 132 Nev. at 197.

Dr. Tung testified Yahyavi injured his cervical spine and required medical treatment. AA002129, AA002137. Dr. Tung's opinion rendered Dr. Baker's expected testimony regarding the speed of Yahyavi's car and the forces in the collision inconsequential. None of the medical doctors acknowledged the relevance of Yahyavi's speed to medical causation. AA001193-001253, AA001287-001288, AA001513-001699, AA002016-002113, AA002301-002321. The persuasive value of Dr. Baker's testimony was directly tied to the notion that Yahyavi could not have

¹⁴ This Court has cited, with approval to decisions from other jurisdictions that did not allow biomechanical engineers, like Dr. Baker, to provide medical causation opinions. *Rish v. Simao*, 132 Nev. 197 (2016).

been injured in the collision. Striking Dr. Baker as a sanction did not alter or change this outcome because his opinions would not have assisted the jury as to damages. *Hallmark*, 124 Nev. at 500.

Capriati's suggestion the lynchpin of its case was that the collision happened at a slow speed and was minor is not credible. Arbuckle invalidated this theory when he confirmed the impact was strong. AA001422. The damage photographs also proved the impact was not minor. RA0155-0167. Capriati cannot satisfy its burden that a different result would have occurred if Dr. Baker testified. *Carr v. Paredes*, No. 60318, 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 56, at *4 (Jan. 13, 2017). Therefore, any error in striking Dr. Baker from testifying was also harmless.

3. Kirkendall's Proposed Testimony was Insignificant

Capriati misstates how the exclusion of Kirkendall's testimony adversely impacted its damages defense. Kirkendall opined Yahyavi suffered no economic damages for future treatment because Dr. Tung opined Yahyavi did not require it. AA000840. The jury heard Dr. Tung testify Yahyavi did not need future medical care for his injuries. AA002047-002048, AA002054. Thus, Kirkendall's testimony would not have made any difference to the jury.

The same is true regarding Kirkendall's loss of earning capacity opinions. Dr. Tung testified Yahyavi can return to work. AA002046-002048, AA002311-002314, AA002320. Based on Dr. Tung's opinion, Bennett, the vocational expert, testified Yahyavi suffered no loss from the collision. AA002193, AA002213. Kirkendall merely relied on Bennett, who relied on Dr. Tung, to conclude Yahyavi suffered no loss of earning capacity. AA000849-000850. Striking Kirkendall's testimony was not truly a meaningful sanction because Capriati already received the benefit of the opinion through its other experts' testimony.

Kirkendall provided no opinions of any independent value the jury needed to consider. Kirkendall made no alternative calculations for Yahyavi's loss of earnings capacity. AA000842-000850. He never questioned the methodology Yahyavi's retained economist, Dr. Clauretje, used to calculate the present value of Yahyavi's loss of earning capacity damages. *Id.* Kirkendall never provided an alternative loss of earnings value. AA000850.

Ultimately, the jury knew from Dr. Tung and Bennett that: (1) Yahyavi required no future medical treatment and (2) Yahyavi was not disabled from working. AA002047-002048, AA002054, AA002213-

002214. Kirkendall's proffered testimony did not bolster those opinions in any meaningful way. Therefore, any error in excluding his testimony was harmless. *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 465 (2010); *Carr*, 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 56, at *4.

4. Capriati's Cross-examination of Yahyavi's Witnesses

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